
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR 
THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 
 

DYLAN KAPLAN,      Civil Action No. 
on behalf of himself and  
all others similarly situated,  
 

Plaintiff,, 
v.        
DELIVERY DUDES, LLC, a Florida 
limited liability company,  
BOYNTON BEACH DELIVERY DUDES, LLC,  
a Florida limited liability company,  
and DUDE HOLDINGS, LLC,  
a Florida limited liability company, 
 
 Defendants. 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

Plaintiff, DYLAN KAPLAN (“Plaintiff”), on behalf of himself and all others similarly 

situated, by and through undersigned counsel, sues the Defendants, DELIVERY DUDES, LLC, a 

Florida limited liability company, BOYNTON BEACH DELIVERY DUDES, LLC, a Florida 

limited liability company, and DUDE HOLDINGS, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and 

for his causes of action, declares and avers as follows:: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and all other similarly situated 

current and former delivery drivers of Defendants to recover from the Defendants unpaid 

minimum wages and overtime compensation, liquidated damages, costs and reasonable attorneys’ 

fees, as well as for declaratory and injunctive relief, under the provisions of the Fair Labor 

Standards Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. (hereinafter referred to as “the FLSA”), and 

specifically under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 
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2. Defendants are in the restaurant food delivery service business and jointly 

employed the Plaintiff, as well as all others similarly situated, within the meaning of the FLSA, as 

they shared or co-determined those matters governing the essential terms and conditions of 

Plaintiff’s employment. Defendants all possessed sufficient control over the terms and conditions 

of Plaintiff’s employment, as well as all others similarly situated, directly and/or indirectly, and/or 

reserved the authority to do so. 

3. Defendants have over forty (40) locations in Florida, Oregon, Colorado, Tennessee, 

and Pennsylvania, and employ over two thousand (2,000) individuals in these states as delivery 

drivers. These drivers deliver food from restaurants that do not provide delivery services to patrons 

who order the food through an online system. 

4. The individual defendants own, operate and manage the corporate Defendants and 

all of the various geographical locations in the United States. They are active in the day to day 

management of all aspects of the business enterprise, which is made up of a network of limited 

liability companies. All of the various geographical locations are centrally operated and controlled 

through the corporate and individual Defendants. 

5. In order to avoid paying minimum wages and overtime compensation under the 

FLSA, Defendants require the drivers to execute independent contractor agreements and therefore 

claim that they are not employees under the FLSA, such that the Defendants believe they do not 

have to pay minimum wages and overtime compensation to the driver. Instead, the Defendants pay 

the drivers the total sum of fifty cents per delivery, plus any tips received from patrons, and often 

require the drivers to work as much as 50 to 60 hours per week’ 

6. Significantly, pursuant to Exhibit “A”, the delivery drivers (and alleged “independent 

contractors”), inter alia: 

A. Are required to attend and participate in orientation and/or training sessions and 
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meetings as requested by the Company with no expectation of compensation; 

B. Are not entitled to compensation for time spent in preparation for, or for travel 

to and from the place to perform an accepted work order; 

C. Are required to purchase t-shirts identifying the delivery drivers as an 

authorized contractor of the Company which shall be worn only when the 

delivery drivers are executing work orders on behalf of the Company; 

D. Are “lent” insulated delivery bags with the Company’s logo, and promotional 

materials, which the Company requires be given to the Company’s customers. 

The delivery drivers recognize and agree that the promotional materials 

provided by the Company are copyrighted and may not be used for any other 

purpose than the services to be provided under this Agreement. 

E. Are assigned a Company credit card which is to be used to pay for foods, 

beverages, goods and services which are being purchased by the Company on 

behalf of its customers. Following expiration or termination of this Agreement 

for any reason, the delivery drivers are required to personally deliver or 

return the credit cards to the Company by overnight delivery service; 

F. Are required to follow the Company’s established policies and procedures 

relating to the levels and quality of service which must be observed by the 

delivery drivers when making pick-ups and deliveries. 

7. The delivery drivers work regular schedules, wear uniforms, and are dispatched 

from central locations. They are subject to policies and procedures of Defendants. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216 and 28 

U.S.C. § 1331. At all times pertinent to this Complaint, corporate Defendants HOME TITLE and 

HOME FINANCING, were engaged in interstate commerce. At all times pertinent to this 
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Complaint, Defendants HOME TITLE and HOME FINANCING owned and operated a business 

engaged in commerce or in the productions of goods for commerce as defined in 29 U.S.C. §§3(r) 

and 3(s) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 203(r) and 203(s). 

9. Venue is proper in this Court as the unlawful employment practices complained of 

herein occurred and/or were committed in the Southern District of Florida, and Defendants were, 

and continue to be, engaged in business enterprises in the Southern District of Florida. 

10. Defendants’ business activities involved those to which the FLSA applies. 

Defendants’ business and Plaintiff’s work for the business, affected interstate commerce during 

all times material hereto. 

11. Defendants have more than two employees and generate more than $500,000.00 in 

annual revenue. 

PARTIES 

12. Defendant, Delivery Dudes, LLC, is a Florida limited liability company, organized 

and existing under the laws of Florida, with its principal place of business located at 102 NE 1 

Avenue, Delray Beach, FL 33444, Palm Beach County, Florida. At all times relevant, Delivery 

Dudes, LLC, was (and still is) engaged in transportation and delivery services in Florida, Colorado, 

Tennessee, Pennsylvania and Oregon.  

13. Defendant, Boynton Beach Delivery Dudes, LLC, is a Florida limited liability 

company, organized and existing under the laws of Florida, with its principal place of business 

located at 2911 NW Commerce Park Drive, Boynton Beach, Florida 33431. At all times relevant, 

Coral Springs Delivery Dudes, LLC, was engaged in transportation and delivery services in 

Florida. At least one of its managing members is Defendant, Michael Silverman. 
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14. Defendant, Dude Holdings, LLC, is a Florida limited liability company, organized 

and existing under the laws of Florida, with its principal place of business located at 102 NE 1 

Avenue, Delray Beach, FL 33444, Palm Beach County, Florida.  

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

15. Defendants operate an interstate business enterprise with locations in Florida, 

Tennessee, Colorado, Pennsylvania, and Oregon. 

16. Defendants use a centralized system in order to recruit delivery drivers. Indeed, 

prospective applicants are encouraged and directed to apply online through the Delivery Dudes 

website (www.deliverydudes.com). 

17. Defendants market, brand and advertise through a centralized process utilizing 

various forms of social media (Twitter, Linkedin, Facebook) in order to do so. 

18. At all times material hereto, Defendants were, and continue to be, engaged in 

interstate commerce as defined by the FLSA. Indeed, Defendants engage in interstate commerce 

by employing delivery drivers who use instrumentalities of commerce, including but not limited 

to processing credit card transactions, use of the telephone and internet, and online ordering 

through the centralized Delivery Dudes website. 

19. Moreover, at all times material hereto, during his employment with Defendants, 

Plaintiff was engaged in interstate commerce. For example, Plaintiff, and other similarly situated 

delivery drivers, processed payments from Defendants’ customers using a cellular phone-based 

payment processing method like “Square”. Plaintiff, and other similarly situated delivery drivers, 

make deliveries from restaurants, including local restaurants and national chains, whose food has 

traveled in interstate commerce. 
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20. The individual Defendants acted directly and indirectly in the interest of the 

corporate Defendants, in relation to the Plaintiff, and similarly situated delivery drivers, with 

regard to pay classification, pay methodology, pay rates, hours and the terms and conditions of 

employment. The individual Defendants set policies and procedures for all delivery dude locations, 

such as work hours, delivery hours, delivery locations, participating restaurants, administer the 

centralized website and social media platforms, and dispatch drivers and distribute orders through 

the website and email/text message to drivers. 

21. Defendants jointly employed the Plaintiff. 

22. Plaintiff, and other similarly situated delivery drivers, perform a service that is 

integral to the operation of the Defendants’ food delivery business. Indeed, the Defendants’ entire 

business model is economically dependent on the delivery drivers, and the delivery drivers 

likewise are economically dependent on the Defendants for their livelihood. 

23. The additional persons who may become plaintiffs in this action, and who Plaintiff 

believes are entitled to notification of the pendency of this action, and of their right to opt-in to 

this action, are current and former delivery drivers of Defendants, who are or were subject to the 

payroll practices and procedures described in the paragraphs below, all of whom were jointly 

employed by the Defendants. 

24. At all times pertinent to this Complaint, Defendants failed to comply with 29 U.S.C. 

§201, et seq., in that Plaintiff and those current and former delivery drivers similarly situated to 

Plaintiff, while employed by Defendants and unlawfully misclassified as independent contractors 

for purposes of avoiding minimum wage and overtime compensation eligibility, performed hours 

of service for Defendants during one or more workweeks, for which Defendants failed to properly 

pay minimum wages and overtime premiums. 
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25. Plaintiff, and those current and former employees similarly situated to Plaintiff, are 

and were unlawfully misclassified as independent contractors. Defendants pay the delivery drivers, 

including Plaintiff, on a pathetic one dollar ($1.00) per delivery “flat fee” for each completed 

delivery, plus tips. 

26. The typical shift for delivery drivers for Defendants’ business is 4PM to 11PM, 

though commonly more hours were necessary - if, for example, a delivery came in right at the end 

of a shift. 

27. During such a typical shift, it is common for a delivery driver to make 6–7 

deliveries, such that the delivery drivers make a total of less than $4.00 (not including tips) for the 

entire shift. In other words, Defendants are paying their delivery drivers less than .75 cents per 

hour (not including tips). 

28. The federal minimum wage for employees for whom a tip credit is claimed is $2.13 

per hour, and the Florida state minimum wage for these same employees is $5.03 per hour. 

29. Defendants do not claim a tip credit for their delivery drivers. 

30. Plaintiff did not control his own schedule; rather, he was subject to the schedule of 

Defendants and relied on them for all of his business. The same applies for all of Defendants’ 

delivery drivers. 

31. Plaintiff wore a Delivery Dudes uniform during all relevant times during his 

employment. The same applies for all of Defendants’ delivery drivers. 

32. Plaintiff was required to make deliveries assigned to him through a central 

dispatching system. The same applies for all of Defendants’ delivery drivers. 

33. In the course of his employment with the Defendants, Plaintiff, and other current 

and former delivery drivers similarly situated to him, worked the number of hours required, many 
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times in excess of forty (40) per workweek, but Defendants did not pay a proper minimum hourly 

wage or overtime premium for any hours worked in excess of forty (40). 

34. The pay practices of the Defendants, as described in the above paragraphs, violated 

the FLSA by failing to pay proper minimum wages and overtime compensation to Plaintiff, and 

those other current and former delivery drivers similarly situated to Plaintiffs, for those hours 

worked per workweek, including in excess of forty (40). 

35. During the three (3) years preceding the filing of this lawsuit, Defendants have (1) 

employed and continue to employ individuals similarly situated to Plaintiff (i.e. delivery drivers; 

(2) classified and continue to classify these individuals as independent contractors; and (3) suffered 

or permitted to be suffered, with knowledge, hours of service by these individuals, including in 

excess of forty (40) during one or more workweeks, for which Defendants failed to pay proper 

minimum wages and/or overtime premiums for those hours worked in excess of forty (40). Each 

improperly classified (and therefore improperly paid) delivery driver who performed and/or 

continues to perform services for Defendants, for any time period during the three (3) years 

preceding this lawsuit, is entitled to notification of the pendency of this action and of his/her right 

to consent to becoming a party to this action. 

36. Defendants already have been sued at least twice based on these same payroll 

practices, which lawsuit was settled in or about May 2016. See, generally ,Justin Attai et al. v. 

Dude Holdings, LLC et al., Case No. 0:15-cv-62522, United States District Court, Southern 

District of Florida, and . However, Defendants continue to operate in the same fashion as described 

herein with regard to their delivery drivers, such that their actions are willful. 

COUNT I - RECOVERY OF UNPAID OVERTIME 

37. Plaintiff re-avers and re-alleges all allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

36 above as if fully set forth herein. 
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38. Plaintiff is entitled to be paid time and one-half for each hour worked in excess of 

forty (40) per workweek and to have such overtime calculated in accordance with Federal 

Regulations. All similarly situated employees are similarly owed time and one-half, calculated 

properly, for those overtime hours they worked and for which they were not properly paid. 

39. By reason of the willful acts of the Defendants, all Plaintiffs (Plaintiff and those 

similarly situated to him) have suffered damages plus incurred costs and reasonable attorneys’ 

fees. 

40. As a result of the Defendants’ violation of the Act, all Plaintiffs (Plaintiff and those 

similarly situated to him) are entitled to liquidated damages in an amount equal to that which they 

are owed as unpaid overtime. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, DYLAN KAPLAN, and those similarly situated to him, who have or 

will opt-in to this action, demand judgment against Defendants for the overtime compensation 

payments due them for the hours worked by them for which they have not been properly 

compensated, liquidated damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit, and for all other 

relief the Court deems just and proper. 

COUNT II - RECOVERY OF UNPAID MINIMUM WAGE 

41. Plaintiff re-avers and re-alleges all allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 

36 above as if fully set forth herein. 

42. Plaintiff is entitled to be paid his statutory minimum wages for each hour worked 

per workweek. All similarly situated employees are similarly owed minimum wages, for those 

hours they worked and for which they were not properly paid. 

43. By reason of the willful acts of the Defendants, all Plaintiffs (Plaintiff and those 

similarly situated to him) have suffered damages plus incurred costs and reasonable attorneys’ 

fees. 

44. As a result of the Defendants’ violation of the Act, all Plaintiffs (Plaintiff and those 

similarly situated to him) are entitled to liquidated damages in an amount equal to that which they 
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are owed as unpaid overtime. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, DYLAN KAPLAN, and those similarly situated to him, who 

have or will opt-in to this action, demand judgment against Defendants for the minimum wages 

due them for the hours worked by them for which they have not been properly compensated, 

liquidated damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit, and for all other relief the Court 

deems just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff hereby demands trial by jury on all claims so triable. 

Dated: August 3, 2017    Respectfully Submitted, 

 
 
/s/ Michael W. Davey, Esq.   
Michael W. Davey, Esq. 
Florida Bar # 689165 
Email: MDavey@granadosdavey.com 
GRANADOS DAVEY, LLP 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
50 W. Mashta Drive, Ste. 4 
Key Biscayne, Florida 33149 
Phone: (305) 639-8293 
Facsimile: (305) 967-7452 
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